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/
INDICTMENT
The Grand Jury charges that:
GENERAL ALILEGATIONS

At various times material to this Indictment:

1. Innovida Holdings, LI.C, formerly known as COEG, LLC, was a Florida limited.
liability company, incorporated on or about March 21, 2006, with 1ts principal placé of business
located at 560 Lincoln Road, Suite 303, Miami Beach, Florida, in £h<: Southern District of Florida.
Innovida Holdings, LLC was the parent company of numerous subsidiary companies, iﬁcluding but
not li_mited to, Innovida Holdings Inc., Innovida US, LLC, Innovida Services Inc., Innovida Factories | _

Ltd., Innovida Innorez Ltd., Innovida Southeast LLC, Innovida Germany Gmbl, Innovida MRD,




LLC, Innovida Southeast Construction, LLC, Innovida Cyprus, Innovida Research and Development
SRO and InmmoREZ Gmbh, {collectively referred to as “innovida”).

2. Innovida manufactured fiber composite panels for the constrﬁction industry to be
used in the construction of residential, commercial, governméntal, and other structures without the
need for cement, steel or wood. Innovida purportedly Was arapidly expanding and financially strong
‘international operation with facilities located in the United States, fhe United Arab Emjrates;
Germany, Angola, Tanzania, and other countries around the world.

3. CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO, a/k/a “Claudio Eleazar Osorio” resided in
Miami-Dade County, Florida, and was the president, owner and maj ority shareholder of Innovida.

4. CRAIG STANLEY TOLL resided in Broward County, Florida, and was
alicensed CPA and the Chief Financial Officer of Innovida.

5. Miami Worldwide Partners, Inc. (“MWWP”) was incorporated in the State of Florida
on or about March 20, 2000, and its address was. listed as éS Southeast 2™ Avenue, Suite 1025,
Miami, Florida 33131. CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO was the président of MWWP.

6. Innovida maintained bank account number xxxxxxxx8744 at Wachovia .Bank inthe
Southern District of Florida. CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO was an authorized signor on this
accouﬁt. |

7. Innovida maintained bank acéount number x£xxxxxx4270 at Wachovia Bankin the

Southern District of Florida. CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO was an authorized signor on this-

account.




»
.

3. MW WP maintained bank account number xxxxxxxx2523 at Wachovia Bank in the

Southern District of Florida. CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO was an authorized signor on this

account.
9. The Overseas Private Investment Corporation (“OPIC”) was an agency of the United
States government and supported investments by the United States government in emerging markets
worldwide to foster the development and growth of free markets.
_ COUNT 1
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT WIRE FRAUD
(18 U.S.C. §1349)
1. Paragraphs 1 through 8 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are
realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.
2. From in or around March 2007, through in or around March. 2011, in Miami-Dade
County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,
CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO,
a/k/a “Claudio Osorio Rodriguez,”
and
CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,
did knowingly and willfully, that is, with the intent to further the object of the conspiracy, combine,

conspire, confederate and agree with each other and with others known and unknown to the Grand

Jury, to knowingly and with intent to defraud devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and artifice

to defraud and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,

representations, and promises, knowing that they were false and fraudulent when made, and

~ knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted certain wire commmunicationsin interstate and foreign




commerce, for the purpose of executing the scheme, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1343,

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY -

3. It was the purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their coconspirators ‘to
unlawfully enrich themselves by soliciting and recruiting investors to invest in Innovida by mak_ing
materially false and fraudulent representations, and concealing and omitting to state material facts -
concerning, among other things, the profitability of the company, the rates of return on investment
funds, the use of investor funds and a .pf:nding Iucrative contract with a third-party entity. It was

. further the purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants to divért investor proceeds for their own and

their coconspirators’ use to further the fraud scheme.

' MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

The manner and means by whic.h the defendants and their coconspirators sought to
accomplish the object and purpose of the conspiracy included, among other things, the foﬂoﬁing:
| 4. ~ CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and an unindicted coconspirator solicited
prospective investors to invest inInnovida through in-person meetings, political events, .and referrals
from other individuals. Prospective i_nvg:stors were offered the option of either investing in the
parent coﬁlpany or entering into joint-venture partnerships to build specific Innovida factories in
various domestic and international locations. OSORIO falsely and fraudulenﬂjf represented that the
joint venture partnership WOIIid bea ﬁﬁy/ﬁfty equity split between Innovida aﬁd the investor; that
Innovida Woﬁld manufacture, ship, and install the factory equipment within six to nine months; and

that Innovida would train the appropriate personnel in the host countries to operate the factories. The

concept was called a “factory in a box.”




5. In .order to induce investors to invest in Innovida, CLAWUE IELEAZAROSORIO,

CRAIG STANLEY TOLL and an unindicted coconspirator made numerous materially false and °
fraudulent statements and concealed and omitfed to state, and cansed others to conceal and omit to

state, material facts to investors, including among others, the following:

Materially False and Misleading Statements

a That investors would receive interest payments of 6% to 10% annually;
b. That the principal on investments would be fully refundable upon demand;
c.. That Innovida was financially sound and was extremely proﬁtable;
d. That Innovida had finalized an agreement with a third-party entity which had 'agreed'
to purchase a large portion of Innovida stock and that a closing on the deal was
| imminent; and

e. That OQSORIC was a “$1" CEQ.-

Omissions and Concealment of Material Facts
f. | That Tnnovida was not financially sound and profitable, and did not generate
sufficient profits between 2007 and 2011 to pay annual returns or interest as
promised to in\}estors;

g That newly collected investor money was being-used to pajr annual returns or interest
payments promised to investors and to repay investors’ princiﬁal in order to create
the false and fraudulent impression that Innovida was successful and profitable;

h.  That there was no pending lucrative deal with a third party entity to purchase

Innovida; and




. That investors’ money was being misappropriated to pay the personal expenses of
OSORIO and a coconepirator.

6. To perpetrate the scheme, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG
STANLEY TOLL, directly and indirectly, disseminated and caused to be disseminated to investors
materially false and fraudulent financial statements and other documents, reflecting that the
company had substantial profits and cash reserves on hand. .Investor.s mtereeted in purchasing the
shareholder interests or the joint-venture partnership interests were required to sign Various
oontracts, promissory notes, and other agreements and to return those documents to Innovidalvia e
mail and/or via an overnight commercial carrier service. Thereafter, the defendants and their
coconspirators caused investors to deposit their monies via interstate wire transfers and checks
deposited into bank accounts controlled by OSORIO and a coconsplrator

7. Between in or about March 2007 through in or about March 2011, CLAUDIO
ELEAZAR OSORIO offered and sold shareholder interests and j oint-venture partnershipsto select
individuals and groups, and falsely and fraudulently raised more than $40,000,000 from
approximately ten (10) investors and investment gtoups located in the United Statee and other
countries.

8. Afterreceiving investors’ monies, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG
STANLﬁY TOLIL: completed numerous interstate and fo'reign wire transfers of funds between
| various Innovida bank accounts. Ultimately, a substantial portion of the funds were transferred into
other business and personal bank accounts controlled by OSORIO and an unindicted coconspirator
to be used for their personal use and benefit. |

Allin violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.




COUNTS 2-9
WIRE FRAUD
(18 U.S.C. § 1343)
1. Paragraphs 1 through 8 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are re-
alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.
2. From in or around March 2007, and continuing through in or around March 2011, in
Miami-Dade and County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,
CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO,
a/k/a “Claudio Osorio Rodriguez,”
and
CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,
did knowingly and with intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and artifice to
defraud and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises, knowing that they were false and fraudulent when made, and did
knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communications in interstate and
foreign commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures or sounds, for the purpose of executing

the schenie and artifice.

PURPOSE OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE

3. It was the purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defen‘dants and their accomplices
to unlawfully enrich themselves by soliciting and recruiting investors to invest in Innovida by
making ﬁlaterially false and fraudulent representations, and c<-)ncealing and omitting to state material
facts concerning, among other things, the i)roﬁtability of the company, rates of retwrn on investment

funds, the use of investor funds and a pending lucrative contract with a third-party entity. It was




further the purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants to divert investor proceeds for their
own and their coconspirators’ use and to further the fraud scheme.

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE

4. - Paragraphs 4 through 8 of the Manner and Means s'éction of Count I of this
Indicfﬁiéﬁt are realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein as a

description of the scheme and artifice.

USE OF THE WIRES

5. o On or about the dates enumerated as to each Count below, the defendants CLAUDIO
OSORIO RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Claudio Osorio Rodriguez” and CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,
for the purpose of executing and in furtherance of the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain
money and property by means of materially false anci fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted in interstate and foreign commerce by
_means of A wire communication certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, as more

particularly described below:

Count | Approximate Date Description of Wire Communication

2 March 24, 2008 Wire transfer in the amount of $978,000 from H.E.’s Charles
Schwab account xxxx2195 in San Francisco, California, to
Innovida’s Wachovia Bank account xmxxxxx4270 in the
Southern District of Florida

3 February 12, 2009 | Wire transfer in the amount of $2,250,000 from R.F.’s Signature
Bank account xxxxxxx5573 in New York, New York, to
Innovida’s Wachovia Bank account xxxxxxxx4270 in the
Southern District of Florida

BERRE




" Count | Approximate Date ' Description of Wire Communication

4 May 5,2009 | Wire transfer in the amount of $100,000 from H-W.’s Citibank
bank account xooxxx3912 in New York, New York, to Innovida’s
Wachovia Bank account xxxxxxxx4270 in the Southem District
of Florida

5 August 28, 2009 Wire transfer in the amount of $1,000,000 from C.B.’s Charles
Schwab account xxxx9458 in San Francisco, California to
Innovida’s Wachovia Bank account xxxxxxxx4270 in the
Southern District of Florida

6 October 19, 2009 | Wire transfer in the amount of $1,000,000 from H.W.’s Citibank
account xxxxxx3912 in New York, New York, to Innovida’s
Wachovia Bank account xxxxooxxx4270 in the Southern District
of Florida : '

7 November 2, 2009 | Wire transfer in the amount of $1,500,000 from R.F.’s Signature
Bank account xxxxxx7972 in New York, New York, to ITnnovida’s
Wachovia Bank account xxxxxxxx4270 in the Southern District
of Florida

8 March 31, 2010 Wire transfer in the amount of $1,000,000 from CK.’s Wachovia
' Bank account xxxxxxxx3856 in Jacksonville, Florida, through
Wachovia Bank’s processing center in Winston Salem, North
Carolina, to Innovida’s Wachovia Bank account xxoxxxxxx 8744 in
the Southern District of Florida

9 March 31, 2010 Wire transfer in the amount of $2,000,000 from C.K.’s Wachovia
Bank account xxxxxxxx3856 in Jacksonville, Florida, through
Wachovia Bank’s processing center in Winston Salem, North
Carolina, to Innovida’s Wachovia Bank account xoooxxxx8744 in

the Southern District of Florida '

| In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.
COUNT 10
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT WIRE FRAUD
(18 U.S.C. §1349)
1. Paragraphs 1 through 9 of the General Allegatioﬁs section of this Indictment are

realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.




5. Fromin or around January 2010, through in or around March 2011, in Miami-Dade
County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elseWhefe, the defendants, |
CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO,
a/k/a “Claudio Osorio Rodriguez,”
_ and
CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,

did knowingly and willfully, that is, with the intent to further the object of the conspiracy, combine,
conspire, confederaté and agree with each other and with others known and unknown to the Grand
Jury, to knowingly and with the intent to defraud devise, and intend to devise, a schemeand artifice
to defrand and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
‘representations, and promises, knowing that they were false and frandulent when made, and
knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted certain wire communications in interstate and foreign
commerce, for the purpose of executing the scheme, in violation of Title 18, United States Cede,

Section 1343.

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

3. It was the purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their coconspirators to
unlawfuﬂy eﬁﬁch themselves by applying for and obtaining a loan from OPIC, a United States
’ gox;ernment ageﬁcy, by making materially false and fraudulent representgt—ions, and concgaling and
omitting to state material facts concerning, among other things, the profitability of Tnnovida, the use
of loan proceeds, an equity contribution to be made by innovida; and contracts which Innovida
purportedly had obtained with third-party rvendors. It was furth& the purpose of the conspiracy for -
_ the defendants to divert the loan proceeds for their own and their.coconspirators’ use and to further

the fraud scheme.

10




MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

The manner and means by which the defendants and ‘th'eir coconspirators sought fo
accomplish the object and purpose.of the conspifacy included, among other things, the following:

4. On or about January 20, 2010, CRAIG STANLEY TOLL submitted and caused to |
be submitted an on-line false and fraudulent application on behalf of Innovida seeking to borrow
$10,000,000 from OPIC, purportedly to build a manufacturing facility and 500 homes in Haiti (The
“Haiti Project™).

5. On or about March 10, 2010, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO cxecuted a loan '
agreement with OPIC whereby OPIC agreed to lend $10,000,000 to Innovida Holdings LLC, and
Innovida Innorez, Ltd. (the Project Company)'to execute the Haiti Project. The agreement provided
that the loan proceeds were to be applied exclusively for the Haiti Project. The loan agreement
further defined the project as “the development, construction and operation of a manufacturing
facility to be owned and.operated by the Project Company dedipated to the production of composite
structural panels to be used for rapid deployment, energy efficient homes and other structures in the
Project Country along with, in a manner and amount satisfactory to the Overseas Private Investment
Corporation, the purcﬁase of structural panels from an affiliate of the Parent Cq@pany and delivery
., of such panels for rapid deployment in the Project Country to provide housing for displaced
fﬁmilies.” The agreement further provided that Innovida was réquired to coriﬁibute épproximately
$5,000,000 in cash and/or assets satisfactory to OPIC as equity in thé project.

8. On or about March 17, 2010, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG
| STANLEY TOLL submitted and caused to bé subxﬁitted to OPIC arequest to disburse §5,000,000

of the $10,000,000 loan proceeds.

11




9. . Onorabout April 23, 2010, CRAIG STANLEY TOLL sent and caused to be sent
to OPIC a financial statement for Innovida whiph faISely and fraudulently reflected that the company
was operating at a profit. .

10.  On or about April 26, 2010, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG
STANLEY TOLL submitted and caused to be submitted to OPIC a revised request to have OPIC
disburse $3,300,000 éf the $10,000,000 loan proceeds via wire transfers to Wachovia Bank account
number XXxxxxxx8744. |

11. Pms@nt to the revised requést for disbursement, on or about April 28, 2010, OPIC i
wired $3,200,000 to Innovida’s bank account number xxxxxxxx8744 at Wachovia Bank in the
Southern District of Florida.

12.  On or about May 3, 2010, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG
STANLEY TO_LL caused $1,500,000 to be wired from Innovida’s Wachovia bank account

number xxxxxxxx8744 to its Wachovia bank account number ooxxxxxx4270 to repay a portion of
investor R.F.’s investment. |

13. On or about May 37, 2010, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG.
STANLEY TOLL caused $201,900 to be wired from Innovida’s Wachovia bank account number
xxxxxxxx8744 10 its Wachovia bank account number xxxxxxxx4270 to fepay a portion of investor
AR’s investment. | | |

14. On or abou-t May 13, 2010, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG
STANLE‘.Y TOLL caused $250,000 to be wired from Innovida’s Wachovia bank account number -

xxxxxxxx8744 to its Wachovia bank account number xxoxxoxxxx4270. Ofthatamount, $25,000 was

12




used to pay investor B.C. and $125,000 was transferred to MWWP’s Wachovia bank account
| xxxxxx2523 for OSORIO’s and a coconspirator’s personal use and benefit.
15. Onorabout July 6,2010, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO, CRAIG STANLEY

TOLL and a coconspirator caused $75,833.33 to be wired from Innovida’s Wachovia bank account

number xxxxxxxx8744 to its Wachovia bank account number xxxxxxxx4270 to make an interest

- payment to investor D.H.

16.  On or about August 4, 2010, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG
STANLEY TOLL submitted and caused to be submitted a second request to OPIC for the
disbursement of $6,700,000. In support of this request, TOLL falsely and fraudulently represented
that the first disbursement of the loan proceeds was used to purchase equipment and supplies.

17. dn or about August 4, 2010, in support of the second request for disbursement,

- CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG STANLEY TOLL caused a copy of an email to
be sent to OPICthich félsely and fraudulently represented that a charitable organization had
awarded Innovida a lucrative contra(;,t to construct 10,000 transitional shelters in Haiti.

18.  On or about August 12, 2010, further in support of the second- request for
ciisbursement, CLAUDI.O ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG STANLEY TOLL caused a copy
of an email to be sent to OPIC which falsely and fraudtﬂently_repreéented that a contract for
$3,200,000 miilion dollars had been a_war.ded to Innovida to build a school aﬁd homes in Haiti.

19. Oﬁ or about September 3, 2010, further in support.of the second request for
disbursement, CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG STANLEY TOLL caused a copy

" of a document to be sent to OPIC which falsely and fraudulently represented that a deposit of

13




$2,500,000 had been made into Wachovia bank account xxxxxx8744, purportedly representing a
portion of Innovida’s equity contribution to the Haiti Project.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.
COUNTS 11-17.

WIRE FRAUD
(18 U.S.C. § 1343)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 9 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are re-
alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.
2. From in or arouﬁd Jamuary 2010, and continuing through in or around March 2011,
in Miami-Dade and County, in the Southem Dist_dct of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,
CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO,
a/k/a “Claudio Osorio Rodriguez,”
and '
CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,
_di._.d_-'lknowingly and with intent to defraud, devise, and infend to devise, a scheme and artifice to
i defraud and to oﬁtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises, knowing that they ﬁere false and fraudulent When made, and did
knoWingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire commurﬁcatioﬁs in interstate and
foréi_gn commcrée, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures or sounds, for the purpose of executing
the sc-heme and artifice. o

PURPOSE OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE

3. It was the purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants and their
, coconspirators to unlawfully enrich themselves by applying for and obtaining a loan from OPIC, a

United States government agehcy, by making materially false and fraudulent representations, and

14




concealing and omitting to state material facts concerning, among other things, the proﬁtabili'ty-of
the company, the use of loan proceeds, an equity contribution to be made by Innovida, and contracts
which Innovida purportedly had with third-party vendors. It was further the purpose of the scheme
and artifice for the defendants to divert the loan proceeds for their own and their coconspirators’ use
and to further the fraud scheme. |

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE

4. Paragraphs 4 through 19 of the Manner and Means section of Count 10 of this

Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein as a

description of the scheme and artifice.

USE OF THE WIRES

5. On or about the dates enumerated as to each Count below, the defendants CLAUDIO
ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG STANLEY TOLL, for the purpose of executing and in
furtherance of the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property by means of
materially faise and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, did knowingly transmit and
cause to be tre-msmitted in interstate and foreign commerce by means of wire communication certain

writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, as more particularly described below:

Count | Approximate Date Description of Wire Communication

11 January 20, 2010 On-line loan application for $10,000,000 sent from Miami
Beach, Florida, to OPIC in Washington, D.C.

12 January 29,2010 Emnail sent from Miami Beach, Florida, to OPIC in Washington,
D.C., attaching a copy of the executed commitment letter between
OPIC and Innovida Holdings LLC

15




Count | Approximate Date DeSCripﬁon' of Wire Communication

13 March 10, 2010 Email sent from Miami Beach, Fiorida, to OPIC in Washington,
D.C., attaching a copy of the executed signature page to the loan
agreement between OPIC and Innovida Holdings LLC and
Innovida Innorez Ltd.

14 | April28,2010 | Wire transfer in the amount of $3,2000,000 from OPIC’s
: U.S.Treasury bank account xxxx0001 in Washington, D.C., to
Innovida’s Wachovia bank account xxxxxxxx8744 in the Southern

- District of Florida
15 ' Aﬁgust 5,2010 Email sent from Miami, Florida, to OPIC in Washington, D.C.
: -+ | requesting a second disbursement of loan proceeds in the amount
of $6,700,000 from OPIC ‘
16 Scﬁtember 23,2010 | Email sent from Miami Beach, Florida, to OPIC in Washington,

D.C., attaching a copy of a document entitled “OPIC and Innovida
Haiti Project” : : '

17 QOctober 5, 2010 Email sent from Miami Beach, Florida, to OPIC in Washington,
- D.C. | attaching a copy of a document entitled “Progress Reporton
Haiti Project for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2010.™

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.
COQUNT 18 _
MAJOR FRAUD AGAINST THE UNITED STATES
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1031(a) and 2) '
1. Paragraphis 1 through 9 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are re-
alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.
2. From in or around January 2010, and continuing through in or around March
2011, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendants,
CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO,
a/k/a “Claudio Osorio Rodriguez,”
and

CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,

_in a loan from the United States, where the amount of the loan was $1,000,000 or more, did

16




knowingly execute and attempt to execute a scheme and artifice with the intent:
(a)  to defraud the United States; and
(b)  to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent
pretenses, reﬁresentations aﬁd promises.

PURPOSE OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE

3. It was the purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants and their
coconspirators to unlawfully enrich themselves by applying for and obtaining a loan from OPIC, a
United States government agency, by making ma-te'rially false and fraudulent represeptations, and
céncealing and omitting to state material facts concerning, among other things, the profitability of
the company, the use of loan proceeds, an equity contribution to be made by Innovida, and contracts
which Innovida purportedly had with third-party vendors. It was further the purpose of the scheme
and artifice for the defendants and their coconspirators to divert the loan proceeds for their own use
and to further the fraud scheme.

THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE

4. Paragraphs 4 through 19 of the Manner and Means section of Count 10. of this

Indipt_ment are realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein as a

description of the scheme and artifice.

ACT IN EXECUTION OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFfCE
5. On or about August 5, 2010, in Miami-Dade County; in the Southern District of
Florida, defendants CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG STANLEY TOLL did
' knowingiy execute and attempt to execute the scheme and artifice, with the intent to defraud the

United States of America and to obtain money and property by means of false and fraudulent
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pretenses, representations, or promises to wit: sending an email from Miami, Florida, to OPIC in
Washington, D.C'., requesting a second disbursement of funds in the amount of $6,700,000.
| In violation of TitleIS, United States Code, .Sections 1031(a) and 2.
COUNT 19
FALSE STATEMENTS
(18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3))
On or about August 4, 2010, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida,
and elsewhere, the defendants,
CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO,
a/k/a “Claudio Osorio Rodriguez,”
and ‘
CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,

in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the Government of the United States,
specifically, the Overseas Private Investment Corporation, an agency of the United States, did
knowingly and willfully make and use, and cause to be made and used, any false writing and
| document, knowing the same to contain any materially false, ﬂétitious, and fraudulent statement,

that is, the defendants submitted and caused to be subinitted a materially false, fictitious, and

fraudulent document which purported to be an email from a non-profit organization representing

that the t_)rganizdtion and Innovida had entered into a contract for the construction of 10,000 units
- and shelters to be built in Haiti, when in truth and in fact, and as the defendants well knew, there was

no such contract.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1001(a)(3) and 2.
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| COUNT 20
FALSE STATEMENTS
(18 U.S.C.'§ 1001(2)(3))

Or or about August 12, 2010, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida,
and elsewhere, the defendants,

CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO,
a/k/a “Clandio Osorie Rodriguez,”
~and
CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,

in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the Government of the United States,

spebiﬁc;ally, the Overseas Private Investment Corporation, an agency of the‘United States, did
' knowingiy and willfully make and use, and cause to be made and used, any false writing and
document,‘ knowing the same to contain anjr materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement, that
is, the defendants submitted and caused to be submi_tted a materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent
~ document which purported to be an email from a third party company representing that the company
had entered into a $3,200,000 contract with Innovida for thé construction of a school and homes in
' Ha1t1 when in truth and in fact, and as the defendants Well'knew, the terms and value of the contract
was not $3,200,000.
In violaﬁbn of Title 18, United: States Code, Sections 1001(a)(3)_a1;d__2.
COUNT 21
FALSE STATEMENTS
(18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3))

. On or about September 3, 2010, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida,

~ and elsewhere, the defendants,
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CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO,
a/k/a “Claudio Osorio Rodrigunez,”
and '
- CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,
in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the Government of the United States,
specifically, the Overseas Private Investment Corporation, an agency of the United States, did
knowingly and willfully make and use, and cause to be made and used, any false writing and
document, knowing the same to contain any materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement,
is, the defendants submitted and caused to be submitted a materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent
~ document which purported to reflect that on or about August 11, 2010, a deposit in the amount of
$2,500,000 was made into Wachovia Bank account xxxxxxx8744, which deposit was purported to
be 4 portion of Innovida’s equity contribution to the project in Haiti, when in truth and in fact, and
as the defendants well knew, no such deposit had been made on that date.
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1001(a)(3) and 2.
'COUNT 22
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MONEY LAUNDERING
(18 U.S.C. § 1956(h))
From in or around January 2010, through in or around March 2011, in Miami-Dade

Couhty, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendaﬁts,

CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO,

afkfa “Claudio Osorio Rodriguez,”

_ and .
CRAIG STANLEY TOLL,

did knowingly and willfully combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other and with

‘ 6thers, known and unknown to the Grand Jury,.to commit certain offenses under Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1957, namely, to knowingly engage in a monetary transaction affecting
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interstate and foreign commerce, by, through, and to a financial institution, in criminally derived
property of a value greater than $10,000, such property having been deriveci from a speéiﬁed
unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Co&é? Section 1957. |
It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activity is wire fraud, in violation of Title
18, United States Code, Section 1343.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

FORFEITURE
(18 U.S.C. §981(a)(1)(C) and 18 U.S.C. §982(a))

1. The allegations of Counts 1 throﬁgh 24 and Count 28 of this Indictment are re-alleged
and incorporated fully herein by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States
of Ainerica of certain property in which one or more of the defendants has an interest.

2. Upon conviction of any violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and
1343, as alleged in Counts 1 through 9 of this Indictment, defendants CLAUDIO ELEAZAR
- OSORIO and CRAIG STANLEY TOLL shail forfeit to the | United Statés any property
| constituting, or derived from, proceeds _obtained, directly or indirectly as the resultof such violation,
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(A).

| 3. Upon conviction of any violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and
1343, as alleged in Counts 10 through 17 of this Indictment, defendants CLAUDIO ELEAZAR
OSORIO and CRAIG STANLEY TOLL shall forfei‘; to the United States any property
constituting, or derived from, proce¢ds obtained, directly or indirecily as the result of such violation,

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1)(C).
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4. Ui)on conviction of any violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1031(a)

as aneged in Counts 18 through 24 of this [ndlctment defendants CLAUDIO ELEAZAR

' OSORIO and CRAIG STANLEY TOLL shall forfelt to the United States any property

constitut_ipg, or derived from, proceeds obtained, directly orindirectly as the result of such violation,
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(3).

5. Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956, as
alleged in Count 28 of this Indictment, defgndants-,,CLAUDIO ELEAZAR OSORIO and CRAIG

STANLEY TOLL, shall forfeit to fhe Urﬁted States any property real dr personal, involved in such -

: offense or any property traceable to such property, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section

982(a)(1).
All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a) and 981(a)(1)(C) and the
procedures set forth in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853 made applicable by Title 18, United

States Code, Section 982(b) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

W/U—Lf\ | -

WIFREDO A. FERRER
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

. 'LOIS FOSTER—STEERS
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
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